THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

JUN 15 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-000473

White Oak Manor of Spartanburg Plaintiff,

v.

Paulette Smith-Young, Defendant,

AND

Paulette Smith-Young, Individually and as The Personal Representative of the Estate of Genobia
Smith, Deceased, Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

White Oak Manor-Spartanburg, Inc., d/b/a White Oak of Spartanburg, and White Oak
Management, Inc., Third-Party Defendants,

OF WHOM

White Oak Management, Inc. is Appellant,
and

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement was not valid and binding on Smith-Young and White Oak Management
 - a. The trial court erred in finding that White Oak Management had waived its right to enforce the Arbitration Agreement
 - b. The trial court erred in refusing to enforce the Arbitration Agreement because White Oak Management did not sign the Arbitration Agreement
 - c. The trial court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement lacks consideration, mutuality, definiteness, or is missing material terms
 - d. The trial court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement does not govern a wrongful death claim

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 23, 2018, White Oak Manor-Spartanburg, Inc. ("White Oak Manor-Spartanburg"), a former party to this lawsuit, filed a magistrate's court claim seeking payment of \$2,250.00 in outstanding fees owed to White Oak Manor-Spartanburg for skilled nursing care rendered to Genobia Smith. (July 23, 2018 Claim, 2018-CV-10106803). This claim was not within the purview of claims covered by the Arbitration Agreement between the parties because it did not exceed \$25,000.00. Genobia Smith was deceased at the time that claim was filed, and White Oak Manor-Spartanburg named Genobia Smith's former Authorized Representative and current Personal Representative, Paulette Smith-Young ("Smith-Young"), as the defendant to seek payment from the Estate. (Admission Agreement, Arbitration Agreement, Authorized Representative Agreement, Re-admission Agreement)(Certificate of Appointment of Paulette Smith-Young as Personal Representative of the Estate of Genobia L. Smith, January 9, 2017).

On August 21, 2018, Smith-Young filed a Third-Party Complaint (among other claims) in this magistrate's court action alleging Wrongful Death and Survival claims against (among other parties) White Oak Management, Inc. ("White Oak Management"). (Answer, Third-Party Complaint, Counterclaim, 2018-CV-10106803, August 21, 2018).

The parties consented to transfer the case to the Court of Common Pleas for the Circuit Court to determine further issues in the oddly-postured case, including the White Oak entities' Motion to Dismiss. (Consent Order, December 3, 2018). The case was assigned Civil Action Number 2018-CP-42-04174. This consent order expressly preserved and did not waive White Oak Management and White Oak Manor-Spartanburg's motion to dismiss and/or the right to refile that motion if necessary.

On or about March 26, 2019, Smith-Young served requests for production on White Oak Management and White Oak Manor-Spartanburg. Smith-Young served requests for admission on White Oak Manor-Spartanburg. After evaluating the posture of the case, White Oak Manor Spartanburg, out of an abundance of caution, responded to the requests for admission on June 10, 2019. Neither White Oak Management nor White Oak Manor-Spartanburg responded to the remaining discovery requests. Neither party served any discovery requests on Smith-Young at this time. (Smith-Young's discovery requests to White Oak Manor-Spartanburg and White Oak Management) (White Oak Manor-Spartanburg's responses to requests for admission).

On June 9, 2019, White Oak Management and White Oak Manor-Spartanburg refiled their preserved motion to dismiss Smith-Young's counterclaim/Third-Party Complaint because these claims failed to comply with the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125 (Notice of Intent to File Suit as prerequisite to filing action). (June 9, 2019 Motion to Dismiss, Memorandum in Support of Motion to Dismiss and Opposing Motion to Compel, and Exhibits thereto).

Smith-Young on July 9, 2019 filed a Motion to Compel Discovery from White Oak Manor-Spartanburg and White Oak Management, and on August 5, 2019, filed a Motion for Summary Judgment.

Only July 10, 2019, Smith-Young filed a Notice of Intent against White Oak Manor-Spartanburg, raising the same claims brought both White Oak Manor-Spartanburg AND White Oak Management in C.A. No.: 2018-CP-42-04174 (Notice of Intent, July 10, 2019). White Oak Manor-Spartanburg filed its return on August 1, 2019. (Return to Notice of Intent, August 1, 2019).

Prior to the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss, Motion to Compel, and Motion for Summary Judgment on September 6, 2019, the parties reached a mutual agreement to dismiss all motions and claims in this matter without prejudice save Smith-Young's claim against White Oak Management. White Oak Management's Motion to Dismiss was withdrawn without prejudice. The parties agreed to stay the action "for 60 days to allow for a pre-suit mediation in a related pending action," (which was Smith-Young's Notice of Intent, filed on July 10, 2019.) The consent order further provided that at the conclusion of the pre-suit mediation, the remaining claim against White Oak Management would either be consolidated with the Notice of Intent or dismissed "depending upon the outcome of the pre-suit mediation." Pursuant to the consent order, the parties intended to participate in pre-suit mediation in the Notice of Intent to resolve Smith-Young's claims against both White Oak Manor-Spartanburg and White Oak Management. (Consent Order, September 6, 2019)

White Oak Management and White Oak Manor-Spartanburg had moved to dismiss Smith-Young's claims because she did not comply with the statutory procedure for bringing such claims. The filing of the Notice of Intent on July 10, 2019 – unlike the Third-Party Complaint/Counterclaim – potentially triggered the arbitration issue. White Oak Management, in

an effort to clarify the issues and work within the construct created by the unusual procedural history of this matter, thereafter filed its Motion to Compel Arbitration. (Motion to Compel Arbitration, Memorandum in Support of Motion to Compel Arbitration, and Exhibits thereto). September 13, 2019).

While the Motion to Compel Arbitration was pending, and on the day of the parties failed mediation, Smith-Young filed her Second Motion to Compel Discovery to White Oak Management on October 14, 2019. (Second Motion to Compel Discovery, October 14, 2019).

On December 11, 2019, Smith-Young filed a second, separate action for Wrongful Death and Survival against White Oak Manor, Inc., **White Oak Management, Inc.**, White Oak Manor-Spartanburg, Inc. d/b/a/ White Oak of Spartanburg; Inpatient Consultants of North Carolina, P.C.; and Edward Warren, M.D. raising claims for “negligence, gross negligence, negligence per se, wrongful death, corporate negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and joint venture” arising out of the same alleged occurrence/transaction as those in the Third-Party Complaint and Notice of Intent. C.A. No. 2019-CP-42-04347. (December 11, 2019 Complaint in 2019-CP-42-04347).

White Oak Management’s Motion to Compel Arbitration in this matter was heard on December 18, 2019. (Transcript of December 18, 2019 hearing). The trial judge requested proposed orders from counsel. (White Oak Management’s Proposed Order Granting Motion to Compel Arbitration).

On January 13, 2020, the trial judge issued the order denying arbitration. (Order Regarding Third-Party Defendant White Oak Management, Inc.’s Motion to Compel Arbitration, January 13, 2020). White Oak Management filed a Motion to Reconsider on January 23, 2020. (January 23, 2020 Motion to Reconsider). The trial judge denied the Motion to Reconsider without hearing on February 14, 2020. (Order Regarding Third-Party Defendant White Oak Management’s Motion to

Reconsider the Court's Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Compel Arbitration, February 14, 2020). This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of whether a claim is subject to arbitration is subject to de novo review. Gissel v. Hart, 382 S.C. 235, 240, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323 (2009). The question of whether a party waived its right to arbitrate is a legal conclusion that is subject to de novo review. Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc., 374 S.C. 122, 647 S.E.2d 249 (Ct. App. 2007).

FACTS

On or about March 22, 2016, Smith-Young, as attorney-in-fact and authorized representative for Genobia Smith, duly executed pursuant to those powers an Authorized Representative Agreement, Admission Agreement, and Arbitration Agreement with respect to Genobia Smith's admission to the White Oak Manor-Spartanburg skilled nursing facility in Spartanburg, South Carolina. On or about May 19, 2016, Smith-Young signed a Re-Admission Agreement on behalf of Genobia Smith that properly incorporated the terms of the prior agreements, including the Arbitration Agreement. Smith-Young does not contest that she was authorized to execute these documents on behalf of Genobia Smith. (January 13, 2020 Order, p. 3).

The Arbitration Agreement at issue provides that all claims **exceeding \$25,000.00** shall be resolved exclusively by binding arbitration pursuant to the FAA.

The claim brought by White Oak Manor-Spartanburg on July 23, 2018 in Spartanburg County Magistrate's Court sought payment of \$2,250.00 in unpaid fees, and was outside the scope of the Arbitration Agreement.

The claims brought by Smith-Young in the Third-Party Complaint/Counterclaim against White Oak Management and White Oak Manor-Spartanburg sought damages exceeding this amount. Those claims were deficient because they were not properly brought through the statutory Notice of Intent Process, which is why White Oak Management and White Oak Manor-Spartanburg moved to dismiss those claims in their entirety.

Over a year later, Smith-Young did file the requisite Notice of Intent pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125 on July 10, 2019. While she named only White Oak Manor-Spartanburg in the caption of the Notice of Intent, this pleading alleged claims against both **White Oak Management** and White Oak Manor-Spartanburg to the same manner and extent as the Third-Party Complaint in this action.

Smith-Young's pleading stated the following:

Paulette Smith-Young, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Genobia Smith, deceased, pursuant to § 15-79-125 of the South Carolina Code of Laws hereby submits this Notice of Intent to file suit against the Defendants named above. If Defendants do not raise arbitration, Plaintiffs will assume no arbitration clause exists or Defendants have abandoned any alleged claim to arbitration. This notice is being filed on the following facts:

Genobia Smith was a resident of Defendants' facility in Spartanburg, SC from March 22, 2016 through August 23, 2016. Defendants are and have been acting in a joint enterprise to operate and manage the facility in order to provide care and treatment to vulnerable adults including Genobia Smith.

Numerous failures, deficiencies, omissions, and breaches of the standard of care have been committed by the Defendants with respect to Genobia Smith. These include, but are not limited to: neglect; corporate negligence and mismanagement; failure to exercise independent judgment as patient advocates; failure to ensure proper preventative measures were in place to keep resident safe; failure to properly assess resident; failure to properly train staff; failure to properly supervise; and failure to abide by applicable federal and state laws governing long term care facilities and skilled nursing facilities.

Arbitration was raised and invoked in the Return to Notice of Intent, with the Arbitration Agreement attached thereto. The parties mediated the claims subject to the Notice of Intent on October 14, 2019, but did not resolve them.

At no time did White Oak Management ever serve any response to any discovery request. White Oak Manor-Spartanburg, which was dismissed from the case on September 6, 2019, did respond to Smith-Young's Request for Admissions out of an abundance of caution. No depositions were taken. At no time did Smith-Young ever participate in discovery with White Oak Management. Smith-Young did voluntarily file responses to standard interrogatories in the magistrate's court action when she filed the Third-Party Complaint, but those were not served by or requested by White Oak Manor-Spartanburg or White Oak Management. Further, the magistrate's court action was initiated by White Oak Manor-Spartanburg for an amount well below the arbitration limit of the parties' Arbitration Agreement.

ARGUMENTS

I. **The trial court erred in finding that the Arbitration Agreement was not valid and binding on Smith-Young and White Oak Management**

The trial court improperly applied the interpretive mandates of the FAA, 9 U.S.C.A. § 2 et seq., in determining that the Arbitration Agreement was not enforceable. The trial court held briefly acknowledged the strong presumption in favor of arbitration agreements, then failed to apply it, skirting the issue by stating that it only applies "upon being satisfied that the make of the agreement . . . is not in issue." (January 13, 2020 Order, pp. 4-5). There is no issue here concerning the making of the Arbitration Agreement. There is no dispute that Smith-Young had the authority to execute the Arbitration Agreement and all other documents she reviewed and executed in

admitting Genobia Smith to White Oak Manor-Spartanburg. There is no lack of capacity that exists nor that is alleged.

As a result, the trial court's reliance on the cases of Hodge v. Unihealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, et al., 422 S.C. 544, 813 S.E.2d 292 (2018), Thompson v. Pruitt Corporation d/b/a UHS-Pruitt Corp., et al., 416 S.C. 43, 784 S.E.2d 679 (2016), Coleman v. Mariner Health Care, Inc., et al., 407 S.C. 346, 755 S.E.2d 450 (2014), and related cases are inapposite. In those cases, the health care defendant was seeking to confer binding signatory authority through other theories, such as the Adult Healthcare Consent Act, estoppel, equitable estoppel, agency, and apparent agency. In none of those cases did the individual signing the Arbitration Agreement and related documents possess, like Smith-Young, a Durable Power of Attorney granting them the authority to sign.

Arbitration agreements enjoy a strong presumption of validity in federal and state courts. Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 759 S.E.2d 727 (2014) (holding that courts may not refuse to compel arbitration simply because a wrongful death claim is involved). South Carolina has a strong policy favoring resolution of disputes through alternative dispute resolution, including arbitration. C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown, 403 S.C. 53, 56, 742 S.E.2d 359, 361 (2013). The party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that the claims at issue are unsuitable for arbitration. Dean, 408 S.C. at 379, 759 S.E.2d at 731 (2014).

Arbitration is a matter of contract, and evaluation of the enforceability of an arbitration agreement is guided by general principles of contract law. Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, Inc., 383 S.C. 125, 678 S.E.2d 435 (2009); Munoz v. Green Tree Fin. Corp., 343 S.C. 531, 538, 542 S.E.2d 360, 364 (2001). A written agreement to submit a controversy to arbitration is valid, enforceable, and irrevocable, except upon such grounds as exist for the revocation of any contract.

Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001). “Although the intention of parties is relevant, as a matter of policy, arbitration agreements are liberally construed in favor of arbitrability.” Landers v. Federal Deposit Ins. Corp., 402 S.C. 100, 108-109, 739 S.E.2d 209, 213 (2013), citing American Recovery Corp. v. Computerized Thermal Imaging, Inc., 96 F.3d 88, 94 (4th Cir. 1996).

It is the policy of the state of South Carolina to favor the arbitration of disputes. Grant v. Magnolia Manor-Greenwood, Inc., 383 S.C. 125, 678 S.E.2d 435 (2009); Toler’s Cove Homeowners Ass’n, Inc. v. Trident Const. Co., Inc., 355 S.C. 605, 612, 586 S.E.2d 581, 585 (2003).

The Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) will preempt any state law that completely invalidates the parties’ agreement to arbitrate. The basic purpose of the FAA is to ensure that arbitration will proceed in the event that a state law would have a preclusive effect on an otherwise valid arbitration agreement. Accordingly, any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration. Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001); Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 379, 759 S.E.2d 727, 731 (2014). A motion to compel arbitration made pursuant to an arbitration clause in a written contract should only be denied where the clause is not susceptible to any interpretation which would cover the asserted dispute. Zabinski, 346 S.C. at 597, 553 S.E.2d at 118–119.

The necessary elements of a contract are an offer, acceptance, and consideration. Arbitration rests on the agreement of the parties, and the range of issues that can be arbitrated is restricted only by the terms of the agreement. To decide whether an arbitration agreement encompasses a dispute, a court must determine whether the factual allegations underlying the claim are within the scope of the broad arbitration clause, regardless of the label assigned to the claim.

Any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should be resolved in favor of arbitration.

Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs., 346 S.C. 580, 596-597, 553 S.E.2d 110, 118 (2001).

The Resident and Facility Admission Agreement contains the following arbitration provision:

21. **ARBITRATION.**

WITH REGARD TO ALL MONETARY CLAIMS ARISING BETWEEN THE FACILITY AND RESIDENT/AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE, TO THE EXTENT THAT THEY ARE FOR MORE THAN \$25,000.00, ARBITRATION (PURSUANT TO THE FEDERAL ARBITRATION ACT) IS MANDATORY (SUBJECT TO THE "OPT OUT" PROVISIONS SET FORTH IN PARAGRAPH 16 OF THE ARBITRATION AGREEMENT), BINDING AND FINAL. THE EXACT TERMS FOR ARBITRATION ARE SET FORTH IN A SEPARATE DOCUMENT OF EVEN/RECENT DATE, ENTITLED "ARBITRATION AGREEMENT" AND ARE INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE. WITH REGARD TO ANY NONMONETARY CLAIM, OR ANY CLAIM FOR LESS THAN \$25,000.00, ARBITRATION SHALL NOT BE REQUIRED.

The Arbitration Agreement provides, in pertinent part, that "[a]ll monetary claims between the parties of \$25,000.00 or more will be resolved by arbitration and will be subject to the terms of this Agreement." Further, the Arbitration Agreement provides as follows (and expressly includes White Oak Management, Inc. and related entities within its coverage):

14. An award against the Facility will be paid within thirty (30) days after the arbitrators make their decision and notify the Facility in writing of that decision. Upon payment, the Facility, as well as all other "White Oak" facilities, **including specifically White Oak Manor, Inc., and White Oak Management, Inc., and their respective shareholders, directors, officers and employees,** will be deemed to be released and forever discharged from any and all other claims arising prior to the date of the hearing.

The Arbitration Agreement also provides:

13. When a determination is made by a majority of the arbitrators, they shall also award the "prevailing party," as defined herein, reimbursement by the other party of all reasonable costs and expenses associated with the arbitration, such as the third arbitrator's fees, travel expenses, witness fees, deposition expenses, and other costs associated with the hearing, but excluding attorney's fees. . . .

16. At the time of signing this Agreement, the Resident/Authorized Representative/Attorney-in-Fact acknowledges having received a copy; having been told that he/she has the right to have this Agreement reviewed by an attorney of his/her own choosing prior to signing it; and having been advised that, beginning seven (7) days from date hereof, and for another ten (10) days thereafter, he/she has the right to "opt out" of this Agreement, and no longer be bound by it. In the event the party signing below determines to opt out, he/she must give the Facility written notice thereof within the time provided. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE. If written notification of the Resident/Authorized Representative/Attorney-in-Fact having opted out of this Agreement is not received within the time frame set forth, the within Agreement will remain and continue in full force and effect. By initialing here, the undersigned acknowledges having specifically read this paragraph.
_____ (initials)

17. If signed below by the Resident, the Resident intends to indicate that he/she believes himself/herself to be mentally competent and, in signing this Agreement, is doing so freely and voluntarily. If instead of the Resident, it is the Authorized Representative/Attorney-in-Fact signing below for the Resident, he/she has the legal right to execute this document in behalf of the Resident, and to thereby bind the Resident, as well as the Resident's heirs/beneficiaries; that so far as he/she knows, other than himself/herself, no one else has the legal right to act in behalf of the Resident and that no one else is an attorney-in-fact for the Resident pursuant to any Power of Attorney; and that all representations set forth in this paragraph are accurate.

23. By signing below, the undersigned certifies and affirms that he/she has been given sufficient time to read this Agreement, and that any questions that the undersigned had, if any, were satisfactorily answered.

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