THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000473

RECEIVED

Oct 08 2020

SC Court of Appeals

White Oak Manor of Spartanburg Plaintiff,

v.

Paulette Smith-Young Defendant,

AND

Paulette Smith-Young, Individually and
as the Personal Representative of the
Estate of Genobia Smith, Deceased, Third-Party Plaintiff,

v.

White Oak Manor of Spartanburg, Inc.
d/b/a White Oak Manor of Spartanburg,
and White Oak Management, Inc., Third-Party Defendants,

Of which, White Oak Management, Inc. is Appellant,

and Paulette Smith-Young, Individually

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

ARGUMENT

White Oak Management has no inherent right to demand Ms. Smith-Young forego a jury trial and resolve her dispute with it through arbitration. When Ms. Smith-Young chose litigation instead, White Oak Management could not ask the circuit court to dismiss her suit without pointing to a contract where Ms. Smith/Ms. Smith-Young voluntarily agreed to arbitrate claims *against White Oak Management*. The circuit court correctly concluded White Oak Management did not meet this burden. Neither of the contracts White Oak Management cites name it as a party or grant it the right to enforce the contracts’ terms. To accept White Oak Management’s alternative suggestion that arbitration should be presumed would upend contract law and the whole premise of how arbitration contracts are formed.

Moreover, any claim White Oak Management believed it had to arbitration was waived when it waited over a year to pursue it and, in the interim, substantially engaged in the litigation process. Also, beyond the textual and timing problems with its argument, White Oak Management’s interpretation of the Arbitration Agreement cannot be accepted because it renders that contract invalid under several South Carolina contract law rules. Finally, and in the alternative,

the circuit court was correct to find the Arbitration Agreement can under no circumstances be enforced against Ms. Smith's wrongful death beneficiaries because none of them consented to its terms.

1. White Oak Management Cannot Compel Arbitration because it Lacks Authority to Enforce the Arbitration Agreement.

As White Oak Management admits, arbitration is a matter of contract and only applies if a valid contract requires it. (Appellant's Br. at 8). White Oak Management has no arbitration contract with Ms. Smith or Ms. Smith-Young. White Oak Management cannot enforce the Arbitration Agreement cited in its brief because it was not a party to that contract, did not assent to its terms, and does not otherwise have the authority to enforce its provisions. White Oak Management argues the Arbitration Agreement "expressly" includes it and that, if its inclusion is not clear, precedent requires the Court to presume White Oak Management may enforce it. The first argument misrepresents the Arbitration Agreement's language and the second misstates South Carolina law.

Arbitration is referenced in both the Admission Agreement and the Arbitration Agreement but both carefully and specifically limit arbitration to their parties—the Facility and Ms. Smith/Ms. Smith-Young. For example, White Oak Management cites Admission Agreement Paragraph 21 which requires arbitration only for "claims arising between the Facility and Resident/Authorized Representative." (R. p. 163). White Oak Management does not fall within either category. "Facility" is narrowly defined in the Admission Agreement as "White Oak of Spartanburg." (R. p. 145). "Resident" includes only Ms. Smith, and Ms. Smith-Young signed as "Authorized Representative." (R. pp. 145, 163). The Arbitration Agreement is just as narrow. Only "monetary claims between the parties . . . will be resolved by arbitration and will be subject to the terms and

provisions of” the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 165 ¶ 1).³ The Arbitration Agreement’s parties are defined in its opening sentence as “the Facility” (i.e. “White Oak of Spartanburg”) and Ms. Smith/Ms. Smith-Young identified as “the Resident.” (R. p. 165).

White Oak Management is referenced just once in the Arbitration Agreement (R. p. 167 ¶ 14) and now argues that reference “expressly” permits it to compel arbitration. Appellant’s Br. at 10, 15. As discussed below, whether Paragraph 14 could ever be enforced is dubious, but, even assuming it could, the language simply does not support the notion that White Oak Management is either an Arbitration Agreement party or otherwise entitled to compel arbitration on claims against it. The disputed provision stated in full:

An award against the Facility will be paid within thirty (30) days after the arbitrators make their decision and notify the Facility in writing of that decision. Upon payment, the Facility, as well as other ‘White Oak’ facilities, including specifically White Oak Manor, Inc. and White Oak Management, Inc., and their respective shareholders, directors, officers, and employees, will deemed [sic] to be released and forever discharged from any and all other claims arising prior to the date of the hearing.

(R. p. 167 ¶ 14). Paragraph 14 says nothing about expanding the Arbitration Agreement’s earlier definition of “parties” to include White Oak Management. The whole paragraph has nothing to do with either the parties bound to arbitrate their claims or the scope of claims between them that must be arbitrated. Those issues are addressed in Paragraphs 1-2 as described above. All Paragraph 14 purports to do is expand the effect of the Facility making timely payment of an arbitration award against it. White Oak Management points to no language in this paragraph stating, or suggesting it may compel Ms. Smith-Young to arbitrate claims related to Ms. Smith’s death.

³ The very next paragraph confirms that the process leading to arbitration only applies to any “party to the Admission Agreement.” (R. p. 165 ¶ 2). The Admission Agreement’s parties are only the Facility and the Resident—i.e. Ms. Smith. (R. p. 145).

Plus, there are a number of conditions precedent to White Oak Management gaining any rights in this paragraph. The opening clause (“An award against the Facility . . .”) specifies that this paragraph only applies if Ms. Smith/Ms. Smith-Young have already initiated an arbitration action against the Facility, completed the arbitration hearing, and successfully obtained an award. Additionally, White Oak Management gains nothing from Paragraph 14 unless the Facility has paid this hypothetical award (“Upon payment . . .”) and done so within 30 days of when it was entered. White Oak Management offered the circuit court no evidence that any of these conditions were met, and the circuit correctly held White Oak Management was not entitled to enforce the Arbitration Agreement. (R. p. 11).

Rather than parse this language to offer any interpretation that would allow enforcement, White Oak Management seems to argue the Court must presume Paragraph 14 empowers it to compel arbitration. Appellant’s Br. at 7-9. On this point, however, White Oak Management overlooks recent South Carolina Supreme Court precedent. The state and federal pro-arbitration policy cannot be stretched to create an arbitration contract where there is none. Wilson v. Willis, 426 S.C. 326, 827 S.E.2d 167 (2019). In Wilson, individuals who were not parties or signatories to an arbitration contract similarly argued courts must presume a right to enforce the contract. Id. at 335-36, 827 S.E.2d at 172. However, the Supreme Court held “the presumption in favor of arbitration applies to the scope of an arbitration agreement; it does not apply to the existence of such an agreement *or to the identity of the parties who may be bound* to such an agreement.” Id. at 338, 827 S.E.2d at 173 (quoting Carr v. Main Carr Dev., LLC, 337 S.W.3d 489, 494 (Tex. App. 2011) (emphasis in Wilson)).

Wilson went a step further, holding that, when the issue is whether a non-signatory may enforce an arbitration contract, the presumption is *against* arbitration. 426 S.C. at 337-38, 827

S.E.2d at 173. Since arbitration is a creature of contract, South Carolina courts will presume only the parties intended to arbitrate unless the contract language clearly indicates otherwise. Id. (“arbitration . . . exists solely by agreement of the parties”). Thus, since White Oak Management is not a party to the Arbitration Agreement, the Court should reject its claim that there is a presumption White Oak Management should be permitted to enforce it. To accept White Oak Management’s argument also effectively asks the Court to accept a legal fiction about Ms. Smith-Young’s intentions when the Arbitration Agreement was presented to her. Arbitration amounts to a waiver of a party’s constitutionally-guaranteed jury trial right, and waiver must be an intentional and knowing act. Hodge v. UniHealth Post-Acute Care of Bamberg, LLC, 422 S.C. 544, 566-67, 813 S.E.2d 292, 304 (Ct. App. 2018); Sanford v. S.C. State Ethics Comm’n, 385 S.C. 483, 496-97, 685 S.E.2d 600, 607 (2009). White Oak Management must show Ms. Smith-Young knew her right to pursue litigation against White Oak Management was abandoned when she signed the Arbitration Agreement. Sanford, 385 S.C. at 496-97, 685 S.E.2d at 607. Neither Paragraph 14 nor any other Arbitration Agreement term provided such notice.

Finally, White Oak Management cites a couple cases for the notion that there are instances where a non-signatory may enforce an arbitration contract. Appellant’s Br. at 15 (citing Pearson v. Hilton Head Hosp., 400 S.C. 281, 289, 733 S.E.2d 597, 601 (Ct. App. 2012) and Int’l Paper Co. v. Scwabedissen Maschinen & Anlagen GMBH, 206 F.3d 411, 416 (4th Cir. 2000)). However, White Oak Management does not identify any legal theory of non-signatory enforcement it seeks to apply here and makes no effort to apply any such theory. One line in White Oak Management’s motion to reconsider suggested Ms. Smith-Young is equitably estopped from opposing arbitration. (R. p. 389). However, since White Oak Management does not even mention estoppel in its brief, the argument has been abandoned. Additionally, under South Carolina law, White Oak

Management would be required to prove six elements to prove equitable estoppel.⁴ Even under the federal common law iteration of equitable estoppel, the doctrine only applies if Ms. Smith-Young has “consistently maintained that other provisions of the same contract should be enforced to benefit” her. Wilson, 426 S.C. at 340, 827 S.E.2d at 175 (quoting Pearson, 400 S.C. at 290, 733 S.E.2d at 601). This requirement is also not met here as Ms. Smith-Young’s common-law negligence and corporate negligence claims are not based on the Arbitration Agreement or the Admission Agreement but rather the financial, training, and staffing decisions White Oak Management undertook when managing and administering the Facility. (R. p. 35 ¶ 25).

In sum, the pursuit of arbitration in this case must fail at its initial hurdle because White Oak Management cannot show it formed an arbitration contract with Ms. Smith-Young. White Oak Management is not a party to the Arbitration Agreement, which is explicit in limiting arbitration to its specifically-defined parties. Moreover, Paragraph 14 does not support arbitration because it does not purport to grant White Oak Management the power to compel arbitration and contains several unmet conditions precedent to the rights it does purport to confer.

2. White Oak Management’s Year-Long Delay and Conduct in Discovery Waived any Purported Right to Arbitration.

White Oak Management provided no indication it intended to pursue its misguided arbitration argument until over a year after it became a party to this litigation. In the interim, White Oak Management sought the courts’ assistance on multiple occasions through potentially

⁴ Equitable estoppel requires proof that the party to be estopped (1) acted in a way amounting to a false representation; (2) intended that such conducted be acted on by the other party; and (3) had actual or constructive knowledge of the real facts. Strickland v. Strickland, 375 S.C. 76, 84, 650 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2007). The party asserting estoppel must (1) lack knowledge and the means of knowledge of the truth of the facts in question; (2) rely on the conduct of the party estopped; (3) make a prejudicial change in position in reliance on conduct of party estopped. Id. As the party asserting estoppel, Defendants bear the burden of demonstrating all six of these elements. Kelly v. Logan, Jolley & Smith, L.L.P., 383 S.C. 626, 638, 682 S.E.2d 1, 7 (Ct. App. 2009).

dispositive motions and sought through discovery information to which it would not be entitled in an arbitration proceeding. Moreover, before moving to compel arbitration (and even after), White Oak Management suggested it intended to litigate, not arbitrate, the tort claims asserted against it. As a result, Ms. Smith-Young and her counsel have expended unnecessary resources and would be at an unfair disadvantage should White Oak Management be permitted to now opt out of litigation. Accordingly, the circuit court correctly concluded that, in addition to the errors in its contractual argument, White Oak Management waived any possible right to assert arbitration at such a late date.

South Carolina law holds that a party may waive any right it had to pursue arbitration if it first chooses to litigate in a way that would render a shift to arbitration prejudicial to its opponent. Johnson v. Heritage Healthcare of Estill, LLC, 416 S.C. 508, 513, 788 S.E.2d 216, 218 (2016); Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC, 408 S.C. 371, 388, 759 S.E.2d 727, 736 (2014). The point at which a party delves too deeply into litigation to assert a right to arbitrate varies based on the circumstances. Johnson, 416 S.C. at 513, 788 S.E.2d at 219 (citing Liberty Builders, Inc. v. Horton, 336 S.C. 658, 665, 521 S.E.2d 749, 753 (Ct. App. 1999)). However, this Court will not reverse a circuit court's factual findings relating to waiver if any evidence reasonably supports them. Simpson v. MSA of Myrtle Beach, Inc., 373 S.C. 14, 22, 644 S.E.2d 663, 667 (2007); Liberty Builders, 336 S.C. at 661, 521 S.E.2d at 751 (holding that "the circuit judge's factual findings should be given some deference"). White Oak Management argues this case is governed by the FAA (R. p. 138 ¶ 4) but it too applies waiver when a party "so substantially utiliz[es] the litigation machinery that to subsequently permit arbitration would prejudice" its opponent. Iraq Middle Market Dev. Found. v. Harmoosh, 947 F.3d 234, 237 (4th Cir. 2020) (quoting Forrester v. Penn Lyon Homes, Inc., 553 F.3d 340, 343 (4th Cir. 2009)).

The fact-specific waiver analysis imposed by South Carolina law considers three factors: (1) whether a significant length of time transpired between the commencement of the action and the commencement of the motion to compel arbitration; (2) whether the party requesting arbitration engaged in discovery before moving to compel arbitration; and (3) whether the non-moving party was prejudiced by the delay in seeking arbitration. Rhodes v. Benson Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc., 374 S.C. 122, 127, 647 S.E.2d 249, 251-52 (Ct. App. 2007). Similarly, for cases governed by the FAA, prejudice is determined by considering the amount of the delay before a motion to compel arbitration was pursued and the extent of the moving party's trial-oriented activity. Degidio v. Crazy Horse Saloon and Restaurant, Inc., 880 F.3d 135, 140 (4th Cir. 2018) (citing Stedor Enters., Ltd. v. Armtex, Inc., 947 F.2d 727, 730 (4th Cir. 1991)).

Taken together, these state and federal standards require courts to consider whether arbitration was asserted immediately, what benefits an asserting party derived from litigation before seeking arbitration, and what harms an opposing party suffered during the delay. White Oak Management first became a party to this litigation when Ms. Smith-Young asserted a third-party claim against it on August 21, 2018. (R. p. 34). A timely arbitration assertion would have come in White Oak Management's responsive pleading. However, White Oak Management's motion to compel arbitration was not filed until September 13, 2019—a nearly 13-month delay. In the interim, White Oak Management embraced the litigation process, utilized the litigation machinery on multiple occasions, and took steps to obtain information unavailable in arbitration.

White Oak Management's first response was a motion to dismiss Ms. Smith-Young's claim through which White Oak Management sought the magistrate court's intervention to end the claim on the merits. (R. p. 26). Nothing in that motion suggested Ms. Smith-Young's claim might be subject to arbitration. White Oak Management then consented to transfer the action from

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